Page 1 of 57

FILED 03-13-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

#### Appeal No. 2022 AP 002051 CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

#### JACOB R. BEYER,

Defendant-Appellant.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

(1) Did the trial court err in denying Beyer's request for an order permitting forensic analysis of the investigative computer that allegedly detected a file containing child pornography which served as the chief premise for law enforcement's application for warrant to search Beyer's home and electronic devices?

The search warrant alleged that the State's undercover investigative computer software("UIS") established a peer-topeer ("P2P") connection with a device at Beyer's registered internet protocol ("IP") address and subsequently executed a single-source download of a single file containing child pornography from the publicly accessible "shared" contents of that device. Though that allegedly illicit file could not be recovered after the execution of a search warrant at Beyer's residence, and despite the parties' apparent agreement that its existence at the relevant place and time could likely be ascertained via forensic analysis of the investigative computer, the trial court denied Beyer's discovery motion on the grounds that Wis. Stat. § 971.23 did not entitle Beyer to discovery of this evidence as the State did not intend to use it at trial in spite of Beyer's invocation of his constitutional right to the discovery pursuant to the guarantees of due process.

х

(2) Did the affidavit in support of the application for the search warrant of Beyer's home and electronic devices fail to establish probable cause by virtue of its deliberately misleading information about offenders' propensity for collecting child pornography; its failure to provide any specific corroborative information about Beyer linking him to any such category of offenders; and its failure to provide relevant information regarding the reliability of the undercover investigative software ("UIS") at issue?

The application for the search warrant in this case explicitly averred that the recovery of illicit files from Beyer's electronic devices by law enforcement could "reasonably be expected" due to the tendency of offenders to collect or retain child pornography that they have procured. However, during a motion hearing, the applicant provided testimony that indicated that this representation was inaccurate and overbroad. He suggested that the passage of time, as opposed to any widespread behavioral trend, is the crucial consideration in predicting whether a given file detected by UIS will be recovered. Furthermore, he acknowledged that, at the time of the application, he did not possess any information suggesting that Beyer was a likely "collector" other than the single file of child pornography detected by the UIS. Despite expressing some reservations in light of the applicant's testimony, the trial court found the search warrant was supported by probable cause and that suppression under the Fourth Amendment was unwarranted due to a lack of foreseeable prophylactic value with respect to future law enforcement conduct.

xi

(3) Was there sufficient evidence presented at the court trial to enable the trial court to make a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Beyer knowingly possessed child pornography as alleged in Count 1 of the Information?

Despite a dearth of testimony indicating that Beyer ever accessed or viewed the relevant image and his corresponding contention that there was insufficient evidence from which the court could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty of knowingly possessing child pornography as delineated in count 1 of the information, the court indicated that there was circumstantial evidence which allowed it to find Beyer guilty.

xï

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Beyer requests the opportunity to present oral argument if the Court finds that the parties' positions require further elucidation or supplementation to clear up any specific questions from the Court which may have been unanticipated or unaddressed by the parties in their briefs. Beyer also believes that publication is necessary in order to provide clarity at the intersection of technological advancements in the use of investigation software and constitutionally enshrined rights of individual persons.

хш

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 2017, between 9:53 a.m. and 9:55 a.m., Special Agent Lenzner of the Wisconsin Department of Justice Criminal Division, through the utilization of undercover investigative software ("UIS") on a peer-to-peer ("P2P") BitTorrent network, allegedly downloaded a single video file which he subsequently identified as child pornography from a "Suspect Device" connected to the network with IP Address 71.90.79.138. (R.55:15-25). On October 30, 2017, Agent Lenzner submitted an administrative subpoena to Charter Communications for subscriber information for the IP address associated with the downloaded file. (R.55:15). On November 21, 2017, Charter Communications responded to the subpoena and indicated that the subscriber for that particular address was Jacob Beyer, who lived in a multi-unit apartment building located at 7237 Tempe Drive in Madison, Wisconsin. (R.55:15).

On December 4, 2017, the State conducted surveillance and confirmed that Beyer was living at that residence. (R.55:16). On December 6, 2017, the State applied for a search warrant, chiefly premising the application upon the alleged acquisition of the single file of child pornography through the State's UIS (Roundup Torrential Downpour Receptor) and a description of the video content. The application also included a summary explanation of how child pornography may be tracked and/or disseminated through P2P networks, as well as a general representation that the investigatory ambit of the UIS is limited to the "shared" folders of other peers on the network which are otherwise publicly accessible for all network users. (R.55). Finally, the application averred that there was a "fair

Page 16 of 57

probability" of recovering the contraband digital data even after "the passage of long periods of time" because

> individuals who have an interest in child pornography or child sexual exploitation tend to retain any images or videos they obtain that depict such activity or maintain their interest in such depiction so it can be reasonably expected that similar evidence of that sexual interest in children or interest in child sexual exploitation will be found in their computer(s) or other digital devices or storage media, or found in other forms in their private places. (R.55:17).

Beyond the representation that a single file of child pornography was obtained from a device traced to Beyer's IP address, the warrant application did not offer any further information to qualify Beyer as a "collector." Moreover, the application did not specify whether there was any indication that Beyer ever opened, viewed, or modified the illicit file in question, nor did it indicate that any other known files of child pornography could be traced to the relevant IP address.<sup>1</sup>

The search warrant was ultimately granted by the Honorable John Hyland, and law enforcement executed a search

1

At the trial on August 30, 2022 the State's forensic expert testified that she could not determine whether Beyer ever knew the illicit file in question was on his device (R.175:46; A:110). At the suppression hearing, the case agent stated he could not tell if Beyer ever looked at the image or knew it was on his computer. (R66:27-28). Knowledge is a necessary element to convict someone of possession of child pornography.

of Beyer's premises on December 7, 2017. (R. 55:19). Based on the contents recovered from Beyer's electronic devices, he was subsequently charged with ten counts of Possession of Child Pornography pursuant to Wis. Stat. 948.12(1m) in a Criminal Complaint filed on December 8, 2017. (R.1).

Beyer filed a "Demand for Additional Discovery and Inspection" on February 26, 2018, which included a request to view the State's computer and UIS that was utilized in the investigation precipitating the Complaint. (R.18). The State refused to accede to this request, and so on December 18, 2018, Beyer formally filed a "Motion to View the State's Computer and Its Undercover Software." (R.50). In his motion, Beyer indicated that his forensic computer expert, Juanluis Villegas, had been permitted to make a copy of Beyer's hard drive at the offices of the Department of Criminal Investigation on October 5, 2018. (R.50:2-3). However, in his subsequent analysis of that hard drive, Villegas had been unable to locate any file with the SHA-1 hash value corresponding with the file allegedly detected by Agent Lenzner on October 28, 2017. (R.50:2-3). Villegas also conducted a search utilizing the State's UIS infohash, as well as a search by file name, both of which also proved fruitless. (R.50:2-3). Accordingly, Beyer asked the trial court for an Order permitting his forensic expert "to look at the State's computer with the hardware and software configuration and settings it had on the dates and times the agent claims he detected the evidence of child pornography" to confirm that the file that Agent Lenzner purportedly viewed did actually exist at the relevant time and location. (R.50:3).

The State subsequently filed a "Motion to Deny the Defense Motion to Inspect," arguing that Beyer had not articulated a proper legal basis for his request. (R.53). Beyer

Page 18 of 57

responded via correspondence dated January 15, 2019, asserting both that due process required the requested disclosures and that the trial court had the authority to order the State to comply with the request under Wis. Stat. § 971.23. (R.54). Essentially, he argued that he was entitled to the discovery necessary to ascertain the validity of the allegations contained in the search warrant. (R.54). Beyer specifically invoked his right to put on a "complete" defense and contended that he had demonstrated the requisite "materiality" so as to compel the disclosures that he was requesting, citing *United States v. Budziak*, 697 F.3d 1105 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012), and *United States v. Ganias*, 824 F.3d 199 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2016) to support his position. (R.54).

On January 22, 2019, the trial court held a motion hearing on the discovery dispute. (R.95). The State argued that there was no statutory basis for Beyer's request on the grounds that it did not intend to introduce any evidence pertaining to the allegedly detected file at trial. (R.95:6-13). Beyer argued otherwise, analogizing the situation to cases involving drug detection dogs, asserting that he would have a right to inspect a given dog's records in order to interrogate the reliability of a given sniff or alert. (R.95:13-15). The trial court ultimately denied Beyer's motion, finding that Wis. Stat. § 971.23 did not require the disclosure of evidence that the State was not going to use at trial, (R.95:24-25: A:2-3). However, the trial court invited Beyer to file a suppression motion, at which juncture he would be permitted to cross-examine the law enforcement officers involved in preparing the application for the search warrant and to offer testimony through his own experts in support of a challenge to the warrant's validity. (R.95:24-25; A:2-3).

Beyer subsequently filed a "Motion to Suppress" on March 15, 2019, asserting that "(1) the search warrant lacked

probable cause in and of itself; (2) the agents relying on the search warrant knew that the search warrant lacked probable cause; and (3) the agents omitted and provided misleading information concerning its undercover investigative software (UIS)." (R.57:1). More pointedly, Beyer argued that the warrant offered very little from which to conclude that he knowingly possessed child pornography, noting the lack of information specific to Beyer vis-à-vis the "collectors" of child pornography described in the application's boilerplate or any information detailing his supposed interaction with the file detected by the UIS. (R.57:3-7). In other words, Beyer contended that extrapolation of probable cause from the alleged detection of a single-presently non-existent-file was unreasonable. On balance, he argued that the respective misrepresentations and omissions were tantamount to violation of Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), and that the supporting affidavit was otherwise so substantively deficient that the "good faith" exception should not apply. (R.57:8-13). He also renewed his request to forensically analyze the State's UIS system, referencing a number of studies detailing the susceptibility of file sharing networks, and specifically BitTorrent, to malware and malicious digital file manipulation. (R.57:12-13;42-57).

The trial court held a hearing on Beyer's motion on March 22, 2019. (R.66). Special Agent Lenzner testified that in this case, the State utilized Torrential Downpour or Torrential Downpour Receptor, a computer program designed to identify users of the BitTorrent P2P network that are "sharing info hashes containing child pornography." (R.66:13-17). He explained that an info hash could contain one file or "thousands of files" and that "[t]here is a database of info hashes of child pornography uploaded in the software, and it automatically

detects when they're being shared on the BitTorrent network." (R.66:16-17). He stated that he received an alert about a file around October 28, 2017, and noted that the Torrential Downpour program had completed a single-source download of the file. (R.66:17-18; 22). He viewed the contents of the file, a video, and determined that it constituted child pornography. (R.66:17-18; 21-22). He then wrote an administrative subpoena for the IP address after determining that the internet service provider ("ISP") was Charter Communications/Spectrum using an ISP database. (R.66:19-20). The information provided by Charter identified Beyer as the subscriber for the relevant IP address. (R.66:19-20).

Agent Lenzner acknowledged that the file he purportedly viewed before drafting the administrative subpoena was not found on any of Beyer's electronic devices seized in the course of the execution of the search warrant. (R.66:22). When queried for an explanation, he stated

[f]rom the date of the download, I believe it was October 28<sup>th</sup>, and the date of the warrant, I believe it was in December, there was a gap there where the party could have deleted the image. I don't know what happened to the image after it was downloaded or where it went, but to the best of my knowledge, I believe it was probably deleted. (R.66:23).

The State proceeded to ask, with respect to P2P cases specifically, "how common is it for you not being able to find the image later on?" (R.66:23). Agent Lenzner replied:

[t]here's been a majority of cases where we went to do the search warrant—so, the time from we get [sic] the download to the time we do the warrant, between that time frame, the sooner we do it, the more likelihood we're going to find that file, but if we're doing search warrants 30 days, 60 days, 90 days down the road and they happen to delete that file or do something with that file, then it's more likely we're not going to find it. (R.66:23).

The State then inquired about "the normal practice that you've found" with respect to the tendencies of viewers of child pornography to save or delete files, to which Lenzner responded:

> [e]very target we deal with is different. Some people will keep that in a downloads folder. They'll download it, go back and view it later. After they view it, they will save it somewhere else. They'll delete it. Some people watch it right away and after watching, delete it. Sometimes they'll back it up on other devices to watch later. They'll categorize. Every person we deal with has a different way they categorize or do something with it after they download it. (R.66:23-24).

At that point, the trial court interjected:

[I]et me just interrupt. I thought in the affidavit for the search warrant you both attested to the fact that they don't delete these things, that they keep them, and that's why you had reason to believe that there would be this image and others on his computer. Can you explain the apparent incongruity here? (R.66:24).

Lenzner replied:

[c]orrect. So we deal with different types of offenders, or multiple different types, but the most common we deal with is we have collectors, and we have the people that are going to view right away and delete it. So we never know what kind of offender we're going to have at the time of the warrant. (R.66:24).

The trial court pressed Lenzner, stating, "[y]eah. You didn't mention that in the affidavit though. Why did you keep that out?" (R.66:25). Lenzner explained:

I mean, we put the collector portion in there because when people do download files, people back up their stuff, whether they back it up on another hard drive or whatever they do with it, and people that are going to collect it and don't want family members or people living with them to find it or whatever the circumstances will take that and move it to another location. But not every single target we deal with is a collector, but there's a high likelihood that they are. (R.66:25).

On cross-examination, Lenzner admitted that the "collector" language at paragraph 22 of the warrant application was included in every search warrant application filed in these types of investigations, even though he acknowledged that there were actually "two different types" of offenders— "collectors" and "movers or storers"—and that he "did not know [Beyer] was a collector" at the time he viewed the file purportedly downloaded from a device at Beyer's IP address. (R.66:26-27). He also stated that he did not know how the file may have come

2

to be on Beyer's computer or whether Beyer ever actually viewed the file. (R.66:27-28).

In addition, Lenzner conceded that once he obtained a P2P user ID through the UIS, the State could conceivably utilize that information to track what that user was doing on the network and attempt to glean other incriminating, corroborative evidence from the user's shared files. (R.66:29-30).<sup>2</sup> He indicated that an IP address merely pertained to the "access point" or "modem" at Beyer's residence, and that any person who had access to the internet through that access point would share that IP address so the UIS-detected activity emanating from that address could not be contemporaneously traced to a specific device. (R.66:31-32).

Ultimately, Lenzner admitted that the only ways to establish whether the file mentioned in the search warrant application existed as alleged were through his testimony or by viewing his computer system and file logs for forensic verification. (R.66:32-33). He conceded that both the UIS and Beyer's P2P client were subject to malware, though he stated that he was not aware of having experienced an "infection" or discernible malfunction on his end. (R.66:33-36).

Following Lenzner's testimony, one of Beyer's forensic experts, Nicholas Schiavo, opined that the fact of the missing file signaled that it either never existed on Beyer's computer or

At trial on August 30, 2022, Lenzner indicated that, "if that computer is sharing a known child–known file of child pornography, we could reconnect to that computer again and we could set our program to connect to that IP address when it's publicly sharing child pornography again." (R.175:18).

that it was manually deleted and overwritten, contrary to the typical behavior of viewers as described in the warrant application. (R.66:37-40). He stated that he believed it would be possible to verify that the file was present in Beyer's shared folder at the date and time in question through a forensic analysis of the State's system. (R.66:40). He also explained that a BitTorrent user could unwittingly receive and/or share illicit material by virtue of the program's dynamics: once a user requested a file and began a download, the user automatically began sharing that file even before the user conceivably has the ability to discern whether the file that was received was indeed what the user requested. (R.66:40-41). Schiavo further opined that a given IP address only identifies an internet router, and that any computer connected to the internet and P2P network via that router could have shared any given file traced to that address. (R.66:44).

Finally, Schiavo testified that uTorrent, the BitTorrent derivative that Beyer was alleged to have been using, had a documented programming flaw that "allowed it to be exploited by any user with a web browser." (R.66:45). More specifically, he stated that

[a]nybody that was aware of the exploit could go back to anybody sharing a file and see anywhere on their computer, add files, subtract files, delete files, move them around, and it would appear as if it all happened in the shared folder because the way it works is it allows the bad actor to designate anywhere on the computer as the shared folder and look around and then manipulate it. (R.66:45).

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