Filed 05-12-2023

Page 1 of 47

FILED 05-12-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP2051-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACOB RICHARD BEYER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARIO D. WHITE, PRESIDING

### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

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

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The circuit court's denial of Beyer's request to access the agent's computer used in its investigation did not violate Beyer's due process rights.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether the circuit court's discovery ruling denied Beyer his constitutional rights presents a question of constitutional fact. *See State v. Maday*, 179 Wis. 2d 346, 353, 507 N.W.2d 365 (Ct. App. 1993). This Court upholds the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous but independently reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts. *Id*.

## B. The Due Process Clause does not confer a general constitutional right to discovery.

In contending that the circuit court erred in denying his discovery request, Beyer represents that he has a broad constitutional right to pre-trial discovery. (Beyer's Br. 32.)<sup>4</sup> Overwhelming case authority establishes that there is no general constitutional right to discovery in criminal cases—discovery is a statutory creature distinct from the State's constitutionally mandated duty to disclose exculpatory evidence to ensure a fair trial. Contrary to Beyer's contention, (Beyer's Br. 32), neither the constitutional right to present a defense, nor this Court's decision in *Maday*, alters this legal framework.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State refers to the electronic page numbers that the clerk assigned to Beyer's brief rather than Beyer's assigned page numbers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The circuit court rejected Beyer's argument that he had a statutory right under Wis. Stat. § 971.23 to inspect the State's computer. (R. 50:3–4; 95:24.) Beyer does not develop an argument (Continued on next page)

## 1. A defendant has limited statutory and constitutional discovery rights.

"Historically, the right to discovery in criminal cases has been limited to that which is provided by statute." State v. O'Brien, 223 Wis. 2d 303, 319, 588 N.W.2d 8 (1999). Despite there being a constitutional right to a fair trial, "[t]here is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case." Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 559–60 (1977); accord Britton v. State, 44 Wis. 2d 109, 118, 170 N.W.2d 785 (1969) ("Discovery has been left to rule-making power and has not been deemed a constitutional issue."). The United States Supreme Court has stated that "the Due Process clause has little to say regarding the amount of discovery which the parties must be afforded." Wardius v. Oregon, 412 U.S. 470, 474 (1973).

While "the Constitution does not require the prosecutor to share all useful information with the defendant." United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 622, 629 (2002), the Due Process Clause does mandate the disclosure of evidence "that is both favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment." Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 57 (1987); accord Britton, 44 Wis. 2d at 117–18 (distinguishing between discovery and the disclosure of exculpatory evidence on constitutional grounds). "Evidence that is favorable to the accused encompasses both exculpatory and impeachment evidence." State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 12, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737 (footnotes omitted). "[E]vidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985). This right to favorable and material evidence

that he had a valid statutory discovery claim. Therefore, State does not address it further, and neither should the Court. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

22

Case 2022AP002051 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-12-2023 Page 23 of 47

is "a right that the Constitution provides as part of its basic 'fair trial' guarantee." *Ruiz*, 536 U.S. at 628 (citation omitted).

Unless the government neglects to disclose favorable and material evidence, neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Wisconsin Supreme Court have any constitutional concerns. See, e.g., Weatherford, 429 U.S. at 559–60 (finding no constitutional violation where the government withheld the name of a witness who testified unfavorably to the defendant at trial); Dowd v. City of Richmond, 137 Wis. 2d 539, 559–60, 405 N.W.2d 66 (1987) (finding no constitutional violation where the government withheld non-exculpatory information from its files); Britton, 44 Wis. 2d at 117–19 (finding no constitutional violation where the State declined the defendant's postconviction request to examine its files for useful information); State v. Miller, 35 Wis. 2d 454, 478–79, 151 N.W.2d 157 (1967) (same as Dowd).

### 2. The right to present a defense does not create a general discovery right.

"[T]he right to present a complete defense has never been interpreted to include a general right to access (or discover) information in a criminal case." State v. Lynch, 2016 WI 66, ¶ 46, 371 Wis. 2d 1, 885 N.W.2d 89 (lead opinion). Like the right to receive exculpatory evidence from the government, the right to present a defense has been recognized as a basic element of a fair trial. See Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986). The seven times that the Supreme Court has analyzed the right to present a defense proves this point. See Colin Miller, Dismissed with Prejudice: Why Application of the Anti-Jury Impeachment Rule to Allegations of Racial, Religious, or Other Bias Violates the Right to Present a Defense, 61 Baylor L. Rev. 872, 899 (2009). In each case, the Supreme Court examined an evidentiary

rule that deprived the defendant of the opportunity to present material and favorable evidence *at trial*. *Id*. at 899–916.

That the right to present a defense is a trial-related right with no bearing on a defendant's right to discovery in a criminal case is therefore clear. See Lynch, 371 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 46. The Supreme Court's so-called "access to evidence" cases aimed at safeguarding the right to present a defense are limited to enforcing the government's constitutionally required duty to disclose exculpatory evidence. See California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984). These cases do not impose a general obligation on the government to provide all useful information to the defense. See id.

### 3. A defendant's right to discovery under *Maday* is limited.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized that there is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case, see Miller, 35 Wis. 2d at 474, and some of its members believe that "a defendant is entitled to access information only to the extent outlined in Wis. Stat. § 971.23," Lynch, 371 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 47. Nevertheless, Beyer interprets Maday as affording criminal defendants broad discovery rights in the name of due process. (Beyer's Br. 32.) He reads Maday too broadly.

Maday addressed a narrow set of circumstances involving Jensen evidence.<sup>6</sup> Before trial, the State retained five experts to testify that the behaviors of the sexual abuse victims were consistent with the behaviors of sexual abuse victims generally. Maday, 179 Wis. 2d at 350. Wanting substantive evidence to rebut the State's Jensen evidence, Maday moved for an order requiring the victims to submit to

<sup>6</sup> Under *State v. Jensen*, 147 Wis. 2d 240, 257, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988), an expert may testify about the consistency of a complainant's behavior with the behavior of similar crime victims.

24

psychological examinations by his experts. *Id*. The court denied Maday's motion. *Id*. On appeal, noting the importance "of a level playing field" *at trial*, this Court held: "Fundamental fairness requires that Maday be given the opportunity to present relevant evidence to counter [the State's *Jensen* evidence]." *Id*. at 357.

Maday speaks more "to the balance of forces between the accused and his accuser" at trial, not the "amount of discovery which the parties must be afforded." Wardius, 412 U.S. at 474. Nevertheless, this Court broadly pronounced that "pretrial discovery is a fundamental due process right." Maday, 179 Wis. 2d at 354. Contra Ritchie, 480 U.S. at 59–60 (1987); Weatherford, 429 U.S. at 559; Wardius, 412 U.S. at 474; Britton, 44 Wis. 2d at 118; Miller, 35 Wis. 2d at 474.7 At other times, however, this Court spoke in terms of "constitutional rights to a fair trial." Maday, 179 Wis. 2d at 361.

Regardless of the constitutional basis for the court's decision in *Maday*, two things are clear. First, it mattered that the defendant's claim centered on information that he wanted to present *at trial*. *Maday*, 179 Wis. 2d at 353–62. Second, the court of appeals has since stressed that its decision "in *Maday* is strictly limited to situations in which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This Court's characterization of "pretrial discovery" as a "fundamental due process right" is not only inconsistent with controlling precedent, it rests on an unsound foundation. See Maday, 179 Wis. 2d at 354 (citing Rogers v. State, 93 Wis. 2d 682, 692–93, 287 N.W.2d 774 (1980); Milenkovic v. State, 86 Wis. 2d 272, 286, 272 N.W.2d 320 (Ct. App. 1978)). Neither Rogers nor Milenkovic supports this proposition. In Rogers, the issue was whether the trial court improperly limited the defendant's cross-examination of a witness at trial. See Rogers, 93 Wis. 2d at 692–93. In Milenkovic, the defendant challenged the trial court's exclusion of evidence of the complainant's prior sexual conduct with third persons and whether the complainant had a venereal disease. See Milenkovic, 86 Wis. 2d at 276, 286–87.

Case 2022AP002051 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-12-2023 Page 26 of 47

the prosecution retains experts in anticipation of trial in order to present *Jensen* evidence." *State v. David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d 726, 735, 528 N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1994). Attempts to broaden *Maday*'s scope have failed. *See id*.

## C. The circuit court's order denying discovery did not violate Beyer's constitutional rights.

Because there is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case, and because the State did not violate its duty to disclose exculpatory evidence, the circuit court did not err in denying Beyer's discovery request to access the investigator's computer.

Beyer wanted to search the computer because, as the circuit court explained, "[h]e had hoped that the knowledge gained by examining the computer might be useful to him in challenging the search warrant." (R. 70:1; 95:3.) Beyer believes that due process requires as much, (R. 54:1–3), but Supreme Court precedent on this federal constitutional issue establishes that he has "no constitutional right to conduct his own search of the State's files to argue relevance." *Ritchie*, 480 U.S. at 59. Wisconsin law similarly prohibits criminal defendants from examining the State's files for helpful information. *See Britton*, 44 Wis. 2d at 117–19.

But even if Beyer could establish that the information he seeks is useful to his defense, that would not change the analysis. See Ruiz, 536 U.S. at 629. Why? Because Beyer is seeking exculpatory material—the only constitutionally guaranteed access to evidence. See Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 485. He is not even seeking evidence for use at trial. That Beyer seeks non-exculpatory information for use at a pre-trial proceeding further weakens his novel legal argument: not only does his position find no support in Supreme Court precedent, it does not fit within the special circumstances where this Court has allowed access to information in the name of due process. See Maday, 179

Case 2022AP002051 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-12-2023 Page 27 of 47

Wis. 2d at 353–62. Even if the Wisconsin Constitution afforded greater protection in this context than does the U.S. Constitution (it does not), there still is no precedent showing that Beyer is entitled to relief. More broadly, Beyer's position conflicts with the purpose of pretrial discovery in Wisconsin: "assur[ing] fairness at a criminal trial." *State v. Schaefer*, 2008 WI 25, ¶ 23, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 746 N.W.2d 457.

Because there is no precedent supporting Beyer's discovery request, the circuit court did not err in denying him relief.

Beyer's contrary position is meritless. While he roots his argument in the federal Due Process Clause, (Beyer's Br. 32), he does not address Supreme Court precedent contradicting his claim. For example, he fails to acknowledge that there is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case. (Beyer's Br. 32–37.) Although Beyer references "constitutionally guaranteed access to evidence," (Beyer's Br. 32 (citation omitted)), he does not mention that such access has been limited to exculpatory evidence, see Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 485. Beyer also cites his constitutional right to present a defense but does not discuss the cases where the Supreme Court applied that right. (Beyer's Br. 32–37.) He overlooks that each case addressed an evidentiary rule that deprived the defendant of the opportunity to present at trial material and favorable evidence that the defendant already had. See Miller, supra at 899–916.

Beyer supports his argument with a non-binding, unpublished, and uncitable decision from this Court, along with three non-binding federal decisions. (Beyer's Br. 33, 35–39.) As to the former, the rules of appellate procedure do not allow the parties to address the case here. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b). And the latter have nothing to do with constitutional rights.

Rather, each of the cited federal cases addresses Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 (Rule 16), under which "a criminal defendant has a right to inspect all documents, data, or tangible items within the government's 'possession, custody, or control' that are 'material to preparing the defense." *United States v. Budziak*, 697 F.3d 1105, 1111 (9th Cir. 2012) (citing Fed. R. Crim. P. 16(a)(1)(E)); see also United States v. Gonzales, No. CR-17-01311-001-PHX-DGC, 2019 WL 669813, at \*2 (D. Ariz. Feb. 19, 2019); *United States v. Owen*, No. 18-CR-157, 2019 WL 6896144, at \*3 (E.D. Wis. Dec. 18, 2019). Since Beyer does not seek discovery under a Wisconsin statutory equivalent of Rule 16, and because federal court rules do not apply in state courts, these cases are inapposite.

By relying on the looser "materiality" framework of the federal cases, (Beyer's Br. 35–39), Beyer seeks not only to apply inapposite law but to circumvent Supreme Court precedent as well. To compel discovery under Rule 16, a defendant simply needs to make a threshold showing that evidence "is helpful to the development of a possible defense." Budziak, 697 F.3d at 1111. But the Constitution does not require discovery of "helpful" evidence. See Ruiz, 536 U.S. at 623, 630. Rather, it compels the government to disclose evidence that is both favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment—a standard that is indisputably higher than Rule 16's. Gonzales, 2019 WL 669813, \*7.

Beyer has not demonstrated that Rule 16's "material to preparing the defense" standard extends to Wisconsin prosecutions, either because it is constitutionally required or because section 971.23 provides a statutory equivalent. But even if it did, Beyer could not prevail under his case's facts. Beyer's position has been that discovery was necessary to determine whether Lenzner either lied about viewing the video that served as the basis for the search warrant or misrepresented the reliability of the undercover investigative software at issue. (R. 50:3; 54:2–3; 66:80; 95:5–6.) But

Lenzner testified to the contrary, including that he watched the video uploaded from Beyer's IP address and that his software maintains a file log regarding the images and videos he reviews. (R. 66:17–19, 32.) Further, although possible, he has never had a case where somebody put images on another torrent user's computer. (R. 66:33–34.) And acknowledging that the torrent network is subject to malware, he has never had a case where he downloaded malware from a torrent network. (R. 66:35–36.) Further, defense expert Schiavo's testimony was speculative at best, focused on the "different possibilities" as to how Lenzner could have downloaded the video file that was not found during the subsequent search of Beyer's computer. (R. 66:39–52.) When pressed on the possibility that malware may have exploited Beyer's computer and manipulated files, Schiavo could provide no evidence for that. (R. 66:47–48, 51.)

Here, where the court found the officers credible and found no evidence of misconduct, (R. 66:82–83), and where the defense testimony was speculative at best, Beyer cannot meet the materiality standard for which he advocates.

## II. The court did not err when it denied Beyer's suppression motion on Fourth Amendment grounds.

### A. Standard of Review

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